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I
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    In Rome in the year 24 AD, the praetor Plautius Silvanus pushed his wife Apronia out of the window in the middle of the night. They hadn’t been married very long, or, we might guess, very happily. It was a high window, and she did not survive the fall.

Silvanus was a member of one of Rome’s most celebrated and successful families. His father, also Plautius Silvanus, had been consul in 2 BCE. His grandmother, Urgulania, was a close friend of the empress, and a cousin, Urgulanilla, was then married to the man who would later become the emperor Claudius.

Apronia’s father rushed to the palace and awakened the emperor Tiberius. Tiberius went immediately to the scene of the crime, where he saw obvious signs of a struggle and the marks of Apronia being forced out the window. Silvanus had no explanation. He claimed that he had been asleep at the time, and that Apronia must have leapt to her death. He was arrested, judges were appointed, and Tiberius presented his evidence to the Roman senate.

A great public scandal arose, in the midst of which Urgulania sent her grandson a dagger. This was taken to be a hint. Silvanus attempted to stab himself with the dagger, and, that failing, apparently enlisted the aid of confederates; in any case, Tacitus records that he “allowed his veins to be opened,” and was soon gone.

There was still to be a trial, however. Silvanus’ first wife, Numantina, was put on trial on charges of having driven her late ex-husband insane with incantations and potions … what we would now call “witchcraft.” She was acquitted.

Silvanus’ family was destroyed by the scandal. Claudius divorced Urgulanilla, who was believed to have been implicated in the matter in some opaque way. The grandmother disappears from history.
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In 61 AD the Prefect of the city of Rome, L. Pedanius Secundus, became embroiled in a dispute with one of his slaves, either because he had agreed to release the slave for a price and then reneged on the deal—the story told by the slave—or because Pedanius and the slave had both fallen in love with the same slave boy who was kept as a prostitute, which was apparently the story circulated in the streets. In any case, Pedanius was murdered by the slave.

Roman law required that, when a slave murdered his master, all of the slaves residing in the household were to be executed—in fact, even if the master died accidentally within his house, the slaves were sometimes executed for failing to protect the master. Pedanius had 400 slaves. The law had been as it was for hundreds of years, Roman law being harder to change than the course of a river, and there had been cases before in which large numbers of slaves had been executed, but now people were losing respect for the old values, and the slaves no longer saw the point in this tradition. Crowds of plebs—rank-and-file civilians, neither slaves nor aristocracy—gathered to protest the executions. Rioting broke out, and not for the first time, incidentally. Rioting had erupted over the same issue at other times through the centuries.

The senate debated the matter, and most of the senators realized that the executions were unjust. They were unable to block implementation of the law, however, and the order was given that the executions must be carried out. Troops attempted to seize the slaves, but a crowd gathered to defend them, armed with stones and torches, and the soldiers were beaten back. By now Claudius’ stepson Nero was the emperor, never known for his civility. Nero ordered thousands of soldiers to the scene. The slaves were taken into custody, and legions of soldiers lined the streets along which they were taken to be put to death.
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Ordinarily, crime stories sink gradually beneath the waves of history, as proper stiff-upper-lip historians are generally above re-telling them, but street riots are one of the things that sometimes cause them to float. On January 1, 1753, an 18-year-old girl disappeared from a country lane in an area which is now part of London, but which at that time linked London to the village of Whitechapel. Employed as a maid in London, Elizabeth Canning had spent New Year’s Day with her aunt and uncle in Whitechapel. As the holiday drew toward evening she headed back to London, and the aunt and uncle walked with her part of the way. With less than a mile to go along the thinly populated lane her relatives turned back, assuming that she would be safe making the last leg of the trek alone in the gathering dusk. In 1753, of course, the streets were unlit, and also, London had no regular police service. She had with her a little bit of money, what was left of her Christmas money, which was called a “Christmas Box,” and a mince pie that she was carrying as a treat for one of her younger brothers.

She failed to arrive back in London. What happened then is oddly familiar to us. Her mother immediately raised the alarm, and her friends, relatives and her employers immediately organized a volunteer search. Within hours of her disappearance they were knocking on doors throughout the area, and within two days they had covered much of London with advertisements and fliers asking for information and offering a small reward. Her disappearance attracted the attention of the city. Someone along the lane thought that he remembered hearing a woman scream about the time she disappeared.

The search, however, went nowhere for several weeks. On January 29, late in the evening, Miss Canning suddenly reappeared at her mother’s house, looking so bedraggled that her mother, when first Elizabeth came through the door, had not the slightest idea who she was. She had bruises on her face and body, a bad cut near one ear, she was dirty and emaciated and the nice dress she had been wearing at the time she disappeared had been replaced by rags. Her mother screamed, and, in the crowded part of London where they lived, the house filled quickly with friends and curious neighbors.

At this point the system of justice, such as it was, flew into action with unfortunate speed. Her neighbors began peppering her with questions about her disappearance—an obvious lapse of judgment, but what do you expect from eighteenth century peasants? We’re lucky they weren’t carrying pitchforks. Where have you been? Who took you? Where were you held? When you escaped, where did you find yourself ?

Elizabeth, I believe, tried to answer these questions as best she could in her desperate condition. The story that she told, confused and disjointed and somewhat incoherent, is that, walking along the lane on the fateful holiday, she had been accosted by two thugs, who robbed her of her coins and her nice dress, and then pushed and dragged her several miles to a large house. There they turned her over to a group of women who made some half-hearted efforts to force her into a life of immoral trade. Resisting these efforts, she was locked in the hayloft—the attic, we would call it now—and apparently forgotten until she finally managed to escape, injuring her ear in the process. She had lived for four weeks on a loaf of bread, a pitcher of water and the mince pie.

Within minutes, the finger of suspicion had been pointed at the residents of a particular house, a large house filled with gypsies, tramps and thieves. There were some loose women who lived there, and some other oddballs and eccentrics. Yes, said Elizabeth; that sounds like that must be the house.

She was given a day to rest and recover, and then taken before an Alderman, who interrogated her and expressed some doubts about her account, but ultimately issued a warrant for a search of the property in question. A posse of Elizabeth’s over-eager friends descended on the house, accompanied by a representative of the Lord Mayor of London and by other officials. All of the residents of the house were arrested. They were arraigned days later before a Justice of the Peace, who happened to be the novelist Henry Fielding. Fielding issued warrants for the detention of two women.

This story, very much like the story of the Duke Lacrosse team, would soon explode into a divisive national controversy with political overtones, occupying the attention of the British people to an extent that is ultimately inexplicable. Elizabeth Canning was destined to become, for a few months at least, perhaps the most famous person in the world. Crime stories of this magnitude make entire cast and crew into celebrities. In this cast we have an old gypsy woman named Mary Squires, with a face like a child’s drawing of a witch, and a mistress of the house called Mother Wells, and in the crew we have a man bearing the moniker (I am not making this up) Fortune Natus, and a young prostitute named Virtue Hall.

Mary Squires smoked a pipe and would tell your fortune for a penny. She was the ugliest woman in the history of the world, a skinny old crone with a face full of warts, a nose the size of a pear and a lower lip, said the writers, the size of an infant’s arm. Ms. Canning accused Squires and Susannah Wells, who owned the house, of stealing her corsets or, as they were called at the time, her “stays.” (They were probably called “stays” because they helped the woman’s body stay where it was put.) The underwear was worth perhaps less than Ms. Virtue’s virtue, but at that time one could be hanged for theft in England, and while that was not the usual punishment this was not the usual case. In the early days of the story, due to the great public sympathy for Ms. Canning, her accusations were accepted at face value, and by late February the old gypsy stood in the shadow of the gallows.

The mayor of London at that time was Sir Crispe Gascoyne. Gascoyne became concerned that an injustice was occurring on his watch, and took it upon himself to prevent this. The story told by Elizabeth Canning had serious problems. She had given a description of the house which did not match the suspect dwelling in one particular after another, and she had failed to mention things about the hayloft which, having been locked in there for 28 days, she could hardly have failed to notice. It seemed to many observers inexplicable that, in describing the events before the court, she had failed to give a hint about her assailant’s quite remarkable face. Further, Mrs. Squires stated immediately upon being accused that on the first of January she had been a hundred and twenty miles away, and, on investigation, this appeared to be true; once somebody finally bothered to check, she had witnesses.

The trumpet of justice had sounded, however, and Ms. Canning refused to recant. All of England now began to choose sides, the Canningites against the Egyptians (the gypsies being commonly believed to have originated in Egypt). Which side you were on tended to match up with which pub you socialized in. There was a class division, somewhat inaccessible to us now, between domestic servants and lower-class people who lacked a position.

So one pub would decide that Mrs. Squires was guilty and the one across the street would decide that Miss Canning was lying, and occasionally they would meet in the middle of the street and try to settle the matter with fists and stones. Canning’s supporters raised large amounts of money to prosecute those she had accused; Squires’ defenders raised essentially equal amounts for the other side. A legal battle raged back and forth for a year, bills of indictment being sought and obtained on all sides. Henry Fielding authored a pamphlet, A Clear Statement of the Case of Elizabeth Canning, supporting the Canningites; Tobias Smollett was among many publishing on the other side of the issue. Voltaire published a history of the affair (Histoire d’Elisabeth Canning, et de Jean Calas). At one point the Lord Mayor—the head of the Egyptians, who opposed Canning—was dragged from his coach and roughed up by a mob of Canningites.

Mother Wells, immediately upon being convicted as a thief, was branded with a red-hot iron, the letter “T” being seared into her skin near her thumb. This was done in open court in full view of the spectators to the trial. Mary Squires, sentenced to be hanged, was pardoned by the King, outraging Canning’s supporters, some of whom lobbed stones at the King’s carriage. In April of 1754, a little more than a year after the first event, Elizabeth stood trial at the Old Bailey on a charge of perjury, accused of giving false testimony against Mary Squires. The trial lasted for seven days, making it perhaps the longest trial of a commoner in English history up to that point, and certainly the most avidly followed. She was convicted on a close vote, a unanimous verdict not being required, and was ordered to be transported to America for seven years as punishment.

Elizabeth’s opponents insisted that she had made up the whole story as an excuse for some adventure that had gone awry. This is unlikely. Her supporters insisted to the end that she was right about everything except a few details of her account, that Mary Squires’ gypsy friends had created a false alibi. This is unlikely. Miss Canning may have suffered exactly what she said she had suffered, but mixed up the details in her confusion, and wound up innocently participating in the prosecution of innocent people. She may have run off to meet a man she knew or thought she knew, and found herself in a horrible situation, which she never came clean about. She may have lied to avoid admitting that she had been raped. Ultimately, we just do not know.

Elizabeth Canning’s supporters raised money for her to travel to America in comfort and with a little bit of a purse, to which the British judicial system made no objections. On the ship across the Atlantic she was befriended by a Philadelphia minister and his wife. She met and married a well-off young man named John Treat, the grandson of a former Connecticut governor, bore three sons and a daughter, died before the revolution, and is believed to be buried in Wethersfield, Connecticut.
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The modern American phenomenon of popular crime stories is in absolutely no way new, modern, or American. That it is truly a universal phenomenon throughout human history perhaps should not be asserted without a more complete survey, but I know of no society which did not have sensational crimes and huge public interest in them, except perhaps societies which were so repressive that the government was able to quash them.

Crime stories rush by us like oncoming traffic. New crime stories emerge in the national media almost every day. Each one roars by us for a few days, is remarked upon in casual conversation and filed away as something less than a memory. Occasionally a crime story turns and follows us, visible in our mirror for months or years afterward. Each one is important to somebody, and a few of them—something less than 2% of the murders—become books.

We are, not as a nation but as human beings, fascinated by crime stories, even obsessed with them. The Bible is full of them. On your television at this moment there are four channels covering true crime stories, and five more doing detective fiction. And yet, on a certain level, we are profoundly ashamed of this fascination. If you go into a good used book store and ask if they have a section of crime books, you will get one of two reactions. One is, the clerk will look at you as if you had asked whether they had any really good pornography. The other is, they will tell you that the crime books are down the aisle on your left, in the alcove beside the detective stories. Right next to the pornography.

The internet service that I use headlines news stories with links to them. A huge percentage of these are crime stories—yet in the chart attached, where their news summaries are sorted into categories, there is no category for crime. Maybe a third of their top news stories are crime stories; you would think that would rate one category among their 25. Apparently not.

Cable television networks which are financed and organized with high-minded civic purposes—the Biography channel, Arts & Entertainment Network, Discovery Channel—find themselves being swallowed up by crime stories, because when they put on crime stories, people watch. Forensics are a wedge, respectable science applied to dirty little crime.

If you go to a party attended by the best people—academics and lawyers, journalists and school bus drivers, those kinds of people … if you go to a party populated by the NPR crowd and you start talking about JonBenet Ramsey, people will look at you as if you had forgotten your pants. If you are a writer and you try to talk your editor into working on a book about famous crimes, he or she will instantly begin hedging you toward something more … something more decent. Maybe if you included a chapter on Watergate, it would be alright. If you write anything about JonBenet, you need to say how un-important that really was, compared to the attention it drew; that’s really the only appropriate thing to be said about that case.

If you try to talk to American intellectuals and opinion-makers about the phenomenon of famous crimes, they immediately throw up a shield: I will not talk about this. I am a serious and intelligent person. I am interested in politics and the environment. I do not talk about Natalee Holloway. It is as if they were afraid of being dirtied by the subject.

Of course, no one has a social responsibility to be interested in Rabbi Neulander; that’s not what I am saying. What I am saying is that given the magnitude of this subject, given the extent to which it occupies the attention of the nation, there are a series of obvious questions which one might guess would be matters of public discussion, but which are not discussed anywhere because the kind of people who participate in the national conversation are terrified of being thrown out of the boat if they confess to an interest in such vulgar matters. Why do some crime stories become famous? Why does the Scott Peterson case become a national circus, while a thousand similar cases attract nothing beyond local notice? Why are people interested in crime stories? Is this a destructive phenomenon, as so many people assume it to be, or is there a valid social purpose being served? Who benefits from this? Who suffers from it? Who makes the critical decisions that cause crime stories to explode or fizzle? Are these stories actually significant to the nation, or are they truly as petty and irrelevant as intellectuals tend to assume they are?

Beyond this roomful of questions there is another room where the questions are yet more important. Does our criminal justice system work well? How could it work better? When it fails, why does it fail? How could this failure have been avoided? Do the rules make sense? What does it take to earn a conviction? What should it take?

Crime stories are very often the basis on which new laws are proposed and old ones modified. We have Megan’s Law and Sarah’s Law and Jeremy’s Law and Amber Alerts. This has been true for many years. In the 18th century several new laws sprung from the story of Elizabeth Canning. In the 1930s we had the Lindbergh Laws and the Little Lindbergh Laws. A great deal of our law and of our criminal procedure has always been shaped and re-shaped by these very famous crimes that the best people refuse to discuss.

Of course there is a national discussion about those types of issues—among the lawyers. When the rest of us try to comment, we are reminded firmly that we are not lawyers and therefore don’t know what we’re talking about. No one writes about these issues. Name a book by a non-lawyer, published in the last ten years for the general public, which attempts to discuss these issues in a serious way. On truTV, whenever a guest tries to comment on some irrational wrinkle of judicial procedure, some self-important lawyer immediately steps forward to “explain” why the system has to work this way, why the system of justice would collapse if a juror were allowed to read a news report about the case or a cop was allowed to mention his prior run-ins with the defendant.

It is not my intention to bash lawyers. It is my belief that the lay public—non-lawyers—should participate actively in the discussion of crime and justice. It is my notion that popular crime stories could be and should be a passageway that the lay public uses to enter into that discussion.

I said that no one writes about these issues, which is not literally true. I am sure that in some corner of the academic world there hides an intellectual who knows vastly more about these issues than I do and has written 208 published articles about them, which none of us have ever heard of, probably because he writes like a troll, or, not to be sexist, she writes like a troll or trollette. I am not here to bash intellectuals, either; I’m just a sarcastic bastard by nature.

This book is about three things. First, it is about famous crimes, and in particular about famous crimes which have happened in the United States since about 1880. Second, it is about crime, in a general way, about the kinds of issues I have tried to introduce here.

And third, it is about crime books. I am not a lawyer or an academic, nor even a cop or a court groupie. My understanding of these issues is based on what I have read, which includes a thousand or more crime books. There is, to the best of my knowledge, no book about crime books.

The world has lost track of Elizabeth Canning’s grave. She lies somewhere in Connecticut, but no one seems to know exactly where. Her story is not a part of proper history, you see; she is just someone in whom the world was so foolish as to take an interest. We know where ancient athletes were born and where they died, and the same for actors and politicians, generals and inventors, musicians and artists, writers and industrialists. Elizabeth Canning was about the same age as George Washington, and was for many years vastly more famous than he was—and yet we have entirely lost track of her, her story sinking gradually beneath the waves.



II
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If this were a British book for a British audience, it would be easy to find the back border of our subject. The story of Jack the Ripper, for the British, casts such a giant shadow that it tends to obscure the rich history of criminal lunacy that preceded it. The British love to write books about Jack the Ripper. Most of these books are written by quasi-academic twits who wouldn’t recognize a real serial murderer if he ate their liver, and propound the most fantastic and inane theories of who Jack the Ripper might have been. One of my particular favorites is a book which argues that the Ripper murders were committed by three men—a famous artist, a prominent physician and a member of the Royal family—who went skulking around the East End in an effort to distract attention from an unauthorized Royal marriage. There isn’t the slightest bit of evidence which would incline anyone to buy into this preposterous explanation, but the authors declare their theory proven after about 40 pages anyway, and spend the rest of the book saying “And if you still don’t believe it, what about this, huh?”

In America there is no such watershed event to provide an easy marker, and thus there are more crimes that remain more famous from before Lizzie Borden. Let us begin with Elma Sands.

The Ring family was doing very well as the 18th century drew to a close. They were Quakers, Elias and his wife Catherine (Sands) Ring. They ran a collection of businesses at 208 Greenwich Street in New York. Elias had a dry goods store. Catherine had a dress shop that employed as many as twenty women sewing finery and waiting on customers, and together they managed a boarding house, all at the same address. Catherine’s sister, Hope Sands, lived there with her and worked at the dress shop, as did her cousin, Elma Sands.

Elma had come to New York three years earlier as a modest young woman. She was 22 years old, not beautiful, but she had a very cheerful manner, regarded by her family as too sprightly for a Quaker. In July of 1899 Levi Weeks, a carpenter, moved into the boarding house, and began pursuing first one female boarder, then another. By mid-August he was spending time with Elma. In another month a yellow fever epidemic swept New York, killing 1500 people—one-fortieth the population of the city. Those who could afford to do so fled the city. Levi and Elma were left more or less alone in the boarding house, hovering in the shadow of death; Elias Ring was still there, but Catherine, Hope and most of the boarders took to the country. Levi began spending the night in Elma’s room. When Hope Sands returned in late October Elma confessed that Levi had asked her to marry him, but he had insisted that they tell no one about the engagement for the time being, and she begged Hope not to tell Catherine. Hope waited almost two weeks before telling Catherine. Levi still thought that no one knew.

Aaron Burr had a property development company, the Manhattan Company. The company still exists; it is now called the Chase Manhattan Bank. The Manhattan Company had dug a well in a quasi-rural area about where Broadway and Spring Street intersect today; the closest modern address has been reported as 89 Greene Street. Late in the evening on Sunday, December 22, 1799, Elma Sands left the boarding house, telling Catherine that she and Levi were going away to be married. The next day Levi was still around. Elma was never seen alive again. She had borrowed a muff from a neighbor. A few days later the muff was found by some boys, floating in the Manhattan Well, and there, on closer examination, lay the body of Elma Sands.

The crime rate in New York City had spiraled during and after the revolution. In 1800 it was reported that one of every 129 residents of the city was the victim of a crime—20 times the crime rate in the rest of New York State. Murder was far from unheard of in the small city, and yet despite this and despite the nation’s obsessive mourning for George Washington, who had died a week before, the story of Elma and Levi broke through the clutter to become the first big popular crime story of 19th century America. Her body was displayed in the Ring house, but the crowds that came to view it were so large that they overwhelmed the house, and forced the open coffin to be displayed in the public street.

In the public’s mind, Levi Weeks was guilty from the word go. Handbills were posted around town accusing him of the murder, and there was a fear that he would never see a courtroom. Weeks was arrested on January 2, 1800, indicted on January 6, and went to trial on March 31.

Weeks was a laborer. He was, however, the younger brother of a wealthy and influential investor, Ezra Weeks. Ezra may have triggered the tragedy by refusing to give Levi permission to marry Elma. In a time when persons accused of murder often stood trial without an attorney, three lawyers were hired to defend Weeks. One of them, Brockholst Livingston, would be appointed to the United States Supreme Court by Thomas Jefferson, and would spend seventeen years on the high court. The other two were Aaron Burr and Alexander Hamilton.

Burr and Hamilton were drawn into the case by their competing political ambitions. They were, of course, the leaders of the two strong political factions in New York. Apparently as a strategy devised by either Brockholst Livingston or Ezra Weeks, they were given a chance to take center stage in a drama that riveted the city, at a moment when they were involved in a war for political power over the city and state. Once one of them accepted, the other could not afford to refuse. Since most of the newspapers of the day were either Republican newspapers (Burr’s) or Federalist newspapers (Hamilton’s), this gave Weeks’ defense spin control. Newspapers which days earlier had flatly stated that Weeks was guilty now began to emphasize the need to reserve judgment.

Weeks was put on trial at the old City Hall, where Washington had been sworn in as the first President eleven years earlier. Inside the courtroom one could hear the hum and bash of the crowds outside, many screaming for Weeks to be hanged. Three of the most powerful men in New York, including the mayor, formed a tribunal to preside over the case and guide the jury toward justice.

There is a 1989 book about the case, The Trial of Levi Weeks, by Estelle Fox Kleiger (Bantam Books). It is a factual, faultless and straightforward book, but in some odd way it fails to express the sweep and passion of the story it contains.

The evidence against Levi Weeks was muddled and inconclusive. Witnesses near the well had heard a woman shouting murder and screaming unseen in the dark. There was the track of a single horse-drawn sleigh in the snow, leaving Greenwich Street and circling the well. Levi had borrowed his brother’s horse and sleigh that evening, returning them a half-hour later. There were the signs of a struggle in the snow. The couple had been seen together in the sleigh on the way to their mortal appointment, but in dim light by people who did not know them. Weeks looked agitated upon returning to the boarding house. He gave evasive and inconsistent answers when asked what he knew of Elma’s departure. Before the body was found he tried to pressure Hope Sands into signing an affidavit stating that he had paid no special attention to Elma, which everyone knew to be a lie. On being told that the body had been recovered, he asked whether it was found in the Manhattan Well.

The court opened session at 10 AM on March 31, and sat without a break until 1:30 AM the next morning. Most criminal trials in this era lasted no more than a day, but the jurors were starting to nod off, and the judge had no choice but to adjourn until the morning.

One of the other lodgers at the Ring boarding house was a man named Richard Croucher. He was a sour, nervous, unattractive man, and he made a poor witness for the prosecution. The defense’s original theory, essentially, was that Elma Sands may have committed suicide by leaping into the well, or may have been assaulted by persons unknown. Now, however, they noticed that Croucher had several features that were useful to the defense. He admitted to having had a small quarrel with Elma a few weeks before her disappearance. He could not account firmly for his whereabouts at the time of the murder, at least within the constraints of the trial, and his own account of his whereabouts placed him in the vicinity of the well near the time of the murder. He had participated in placing handbills around town accusing Levi Weeks of the murder, and had gone out of his way to accuse Weeks to acquaintances.

The defense began to insinuate that it was Croucher who had murdered Elma Sands, at one point holding a candle in front of Croucher’s severe unlovely face so that a witness could identify him among the throngs gathered in the back of the courtroom. Hours past midnight on the second day of the trial, the judge issued instructions to the jury, speaking for the tribunal, which virtually amounted to an order to acquit. The jury complied in five minutes. It was said to be the longest criminal trial in the history of New York up to that point—two very long days.

The people of New York were outraged by Levi Weeks’ acquittal, an outrage perhaps tempered by the newspapers, which mostly told them to accept the verdict. The case remained famous for 50 years afterward or a little more. It is now referenced only in biographies of Burr and Hamilton, by writers who, at least according to Kleiger, rarely come close to getting the facts right.

Levi Weeks moved to Natchez, Mississippi, became a successful architect, and designed beautiful buildings that still stand today. He died in 1819 at the age of 43. The judge who presided over the case vanished from the face of the earth in 1829, his disappearance a complete mystery.

In truth, there are in modern America not an awful lot of people who escape justice through clever lawyering. There was an era in which this was common, but that era passed away.

However, it is my general view that the cause of justice is not well served by hiding facts from the jury. Levi Weeks escaped justice, in part, because his lawyers were able to get Elma Sands’ revelations about her upcoming secret marriage banned from the trial as hearsay. This was wrong; it may have been right by the law, but it was wrong in a larger sense. Without the looming portent of a marriage Levi Weeks was without motive to commit the crime.

In my view, whenever a jury is sheltered from the facts, there is a risk of injustice resulting. Denying Levi Weeks’ jury access to the true facts of the case enabled Weeks’ extremely clever lawyers to create a kind of shadow play, in which the real issues of the case were minimized and ants were projected as monsters. The O. J. Simpson verdict came about not because O.J.’s jury was stupid, but because O.J.’s jurors had been living for months in a meticulously constructed bubble in which they were denied facts about the case that were available to everybody else in the country. This, in the same way, enabled O.J.’s lawyers to create a kind of shadow play in which they conjured a monster out of the racist history of a detective who should have been off the stage in an hour. The mechanics of it were different in 1994 than in 1800, but the principle is the same: blocking out the sunlight increases the ability of the lawyers to play with the shadows.

And, as in the O. J. Simpson case, the prosecution asserted things that it had no real need to assert, and found itself trying to prove things that never happened. While I have little doubt that Levi Weeks murdered Elma Sands, I am not convinced that the horse and sleigh had anything to do with it. The time frame on the horse and sleigh is very short and not exactly right. The murderous errand does not require a horse or sleigh, since the distance was less than a mile and Elma would willingly have gone there with Levi on foot. A witness who scanned the area after the screams saw a man standing at the well, but no horse or sleigh. If we assume that the horse and sleigh is all a mistake, the prosecution loses almost half of its witnesses—for no real reason, since the murder does not require the participation of the horse.

Burr and Hamilton were joined again in the century’s next great crime story, of course, the duel of 1804. Brockholst Livingston, the third lawyer in the case, also killed a man in a duel—before ascending to the Supreme Court. I’m thinking if you did that now, it might be an issue in the confirmation hearings.

In 1836 a New York city prostitute named Helen Jewett was murdered in a brothel owned by John R. Livingston, a cousin of Brockholst Livingston, and an old politician himself. The story of Helen Jewett’s murder is discussed at length in the addendum to the paperback edition of this book, which begins on page 445, which I presume is at the back of the book.
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In the summer of 1841 Mary Rogers was a 19-year-old girl who worked at John Anderson’s cigar store at 321 Broadway in New York City. Mary’s mother ran a small boarding house on Nassau Street. Her father had long since departed on some seafaring adventure from which he had not returned. Mary was engaged to a man who lived at the boarding house and worked as a cork cutter.

The population of New York City by 1841 was up to 300,000, five times that of 40 years earlier. The fastest-growing profession was publishing. The penny press—the daily newspaper, available for a penny and thus available to almost anyone—was made possible by an 1836 invention, if one can call stapling together a printing press and a steam engine an invention. There were dozens of newspapers, closer in spirit to blogs than to modern newspapers. Nassau Street was Publishers’ Row, the center of the business. Anderson’s cigar store, near Nassau Street, was a place where men hung around, especially newspaper men.

About 10 AM on Sunday, July 25, Mary knocked on the door of her fiancé’s room. Daniel Payne was getting dressed, but she spoke to him through the door, telling him that she was going to visit her aunt for the day—which was apparently a lie—and that she would return on the Broadway stagecoach at 6:00 that evening, which was probably supposed to be the truth. He said that he would meet her where the stagecoach stopped on Ann Street.

It rained hard that afternoon, however, and Payne, figuring that Mary would stay at her aunt’s, did not go to meet the returning stage. Her mother, as well, failed to raise an alarm when Mary did not come home that night, a fact from which some people inferred, probably incorrectly, that Mary didn’t always come home at night. In any case no one reported Mary missing until Monday night, when Mr. Payne learned that his intended had never arrived at her aunt’s house. Her body was found floating in the Hudson River on Thursday, July 29, near the entrance to Sybil’s Cave in Hoboken. She had been sexually assaulted, apparently bound and gagged at the time, and then choked to death and thrown into the water.

Hoboken at this time was a kind of pastoral retreat for New Yorkers and those from other nearby cities, with a river walk and a large park known as the Elysian Fields. Inside the Elysian Fields was a cave, Sybil’s Cave, leading to a spring from an underground aquifer. Sybil’s Cave was so delicately constructed that many people assumed it to be a natural opening, although in fact it had been dug out to reach the water in 1822. The proprietor of the cave sold unfiltered spring water to the beachgoers for a penny a glass. It was located between Eighth and Ninth streets on what is now Frank Sinatra Drive. It was covered over by industry, finally filled in and obliterated in 1937.

The death of the Beautiful Cigar Girl consumed the interest of the New York public as few stories ever have. Hordes of people flocked to Sybil’s Cave, a new crowd every day. Every newspaper wrote about it in every edition. When facts were in short supply speculation filled in nicely. In the wake of her tragedy, some newspapers would present Mary as a modest, respectable young girl, while others would present her as a bit of a tease. In all likelihood neither side knew what they were talking about, but it does seem clear that the cigar store employed her for the same reason that Hooters hires Hooters’ girls: she brought in the boys.

The investigation pulled up empty hooks for several days. Some of her clothes were missing, and her parasol. For days no one could be found who had seen Miss Rogers alive after she left her boarding house. Finally a New Jersey stage driver stepped forward with information. He had seen someone who fit Mary’s description arrive in New Jersey by ferry, accompanied by a tall, well-dressed man over 30 years of age, dark complexioned. She had accompanied him to Nick Moore’s House, a roadhouse on the Jersey shore.

Nick Moore’s House was run by Fredericka Loss. Well, yes, said Mrs. Loss, there WAS a young woman like that who stopped here on the 25th of July, accompanied by three men. But Mrs. Loss had seen the body when it was taken from the water—she had been summoned by authorities, as were many others, to see if she could identify the body—and she could not say whether it was the same woman. She had thought at the time that it was not.

Several days later, however, Mrs. Loss changed her story under police questioning. It was Mary Rogers who had come to her house, she admitted, accompanied not by three men but by one, the tall, dark stranger. They drank a glass of lemonade and then were on their way, toward the Elysian Fields. Shortly after they left, her house was visited by a group of several ruffians, who also had a drink and left in the same direction, along the same path. Not too much later she had heard a woman scream, but she didn’t think it was anything unusual at the time.

The police investigation now centered on identifying the mystery stranger. What had become of him? Mrs. Loss popped back into the story in September. One of her sons, she said, had found Mary’s missing clothes and her parasol in the field behind their house. She turned these over to the police, who didn’t have a clue what to do with them. (In fact, the word “clue,” in its current meaning, had not yet entered the English language.) The primary police strategy appears to have been to focus on Mary’s suitors and ex-suitors, and arrest them and charge them one after another, hoping some evidence would turn up. It never did. This continued until the police gave up on it, which appears to have happened in a matter of months, rather than years, as the New York police were not at that time organized to sustain a long-term investigation.

Three things happened later which gave the story legs. On October 8, 1841, Daniel Payne (to whom Mary had been engaged) went over to Sybil’s Cave, and committed suicide with a lethal amount of laudanum. He had been living a dissolute life since the tragedy, drinking heavily. He left a suicide note, but it contained no new information about Mary’s death.

Second, in November, 1841, Edgar Allan Poe published a story about the case, a fictionalized version of it called “The Mystery of Marie Roget,” which moved the case to Paris and proposed a solution. Poe, living in New York City at the time of the Helen Jewett murder, had been fascinated with that story and the interest that it generated. When the Mary Rogers story exploded five years later he was living in Philadelphia, but he published his fictionalization as a way of pushing himself into the market. The story is considered a cornerstone of the detective story genre, and is still widely read today. Poe’s imitators and rivals followed by issuing a number of other fictionalized versions of the tragedy. The detective story genre, then in its infancy, grew in substantial measure out of these Mary Rogers stories—although we should also point out that, many years before, there had been fictionalized versions of the story of Levi Weeks and Elma Sands. One of Helen Jewett’s favorite novels was Kenilworth, by Sir Walter Scott—which is a fictionalization of a famous crime that occurred in 1560.

Then, on October 24, 1842, Fredericka Loss was accidentally shot by one of her sons. She lived for two weeks, and gave a deathbed confession, one final effort to clean up her story. Her third and final version of the tragic day was that Miss Rogers had come to Nick Moore’s tavern on July 25 in “company with a young physician who undertook to procure for her a premature delivery.” Miss Rogers had died during the procedure, and, after a hurried consultation, it was decided that one of Mrs. Loss’ sons would take her body out into the river and tie a stone to it, sinking it so that it would never be found.

The scandalous and unsolved death of Miss Rogers became a pivot point of cultural and political debate, making Miss Rogers a central figure in the history of New York in the mid-19th century. The New York police force was re-organized top to bottom in 1845, substantially due to shortcomings which were exposed to public scrutiny during the Rogers investigation.

Moralists and social reformers, preachers and poets and politicians all stood upon the Rogers affair to broadcast their platforms. In the years 1843–1845 (and since, in many quarters), the botched-abortion theory became the most commonly accepted explanation for Mary’s death. Abortion was not illegal in New York in 1841. Killing someone in a botched abortion was illegal, but abortion itself was not. It became illegal in 1845, in large part because of the death of Mary Rogers.

The importance of the Mary Rogers’ murder in the early history of abortion legislation has turned her story into a kind of obscure feminist battleground where people use phrases like “the misogynist politics of antebellum journalism.” The irony is that there is not the slightest reason to believe that Mary Rogers was ever pregnant. Mrs. Loss’ story is nonsense. The New Jersey coroner who performed an autopsy on Miss Rogers, Dr. Richard Cook, reported very specifically that a piece of lace was tied around her neck, that there were ligature marks on her wrists, that there were evident marks of manual strangulation, that there were extensive abrasions and contusions on her back where she had been held down and raped, and further, that there was no indication she had ever been pregnant, and that he believed she had been a chaste woman until the mortal assault.

Dr. Cook overstated what he could have known, which caused people to pay no attention to him, even when he was talking about things that he very probably did know. The coroner’s statement that the marks from the fingers of the person who choked her to death could be clearly seen around her neck may have seemed far-fetched to 19th century readers, but readers of modern crime books will know that this certainly does happen, and in fact, it almost always happens when a person is choked to death. The story of her being abused post-mortem and thrown into the river to cover up what really happened is physiologically impossible. Strangling a dead person doesn’t leave bruises; the dead don’t bruise. In order to believe that she died in a botched abortion, you have to totally discount the coroner’s examination, not on one point but on many points. Having thrown that aside, one must then give credence to a story told years later, which has few earmarks of the truth, and which was the third account given by Mrs. Loss.

There are at least six competing explanations:

1. That she was murdered by her fiancé, Daniel Payne, who discovered her duplicity,

    2. That she was murdered by the dark stranger who was never identified,

    3. That she was murdered by some rejected suitor,

    4. That she was murdered by some unknown assailant or assailants,

    5. That she was murdered by one of the roving gangs of thugs which were then active in New York,

    6. That she committed suicide by jumping into the water (this explanation being inexplicably popular among a segment of the contemporary public).

Mr. Payne’s behavior is in certain respects peculiar. It is odd that, by his own story, he agreed to meet his fiancée at a time and place, and then failed to notice that she wasn’t there. It is odd that he degenerated so completely in the following months. Grief is a powerful corrosive on the soul, but guilt is an even more powerful agent. His melodramatic suicide would be more common for a guilty lover than an innocent one.

Adding these facts together, they fall far short of a credible indictment of Mr. Payne. He was extensively interviewed by police, who failed to find anything to tie him to the crime. There is no reason to believe that he was a man of such ill character as to commit an atrocious crime against a woman he loved. While men do, of course, sometimes murder those with whom they are involved, this crime very little resembles most of those crimes. It just does not seem probable that Mr. Payne was anything but a collateral victim of Mary Rogers’ murder.

The police played out most of their energy on the secret boyfriend and rejected suitor theories, leading nowhere. The most widely accepted theory in the weeks after the crime was that she was murdered by a roving gang of thugs. There were gangs of thugs in New York at this time, sometimes organized around volunteer firehouses, there was a great deal of fear of them, and this murder was a natural outlet for that fear. Further, Dr. Cook, who performed the first autopsy on her, thought that she had been assaulted by six to eight men, and of course Mrs. Loss included a gang of thugs in one of her stories.

While the theory that she was assaulted by one of these firehouse gangs or some other group of ruffians certainly could be true, there are several problems. It is an almost invariable rule that when more than three people are involved in a crime, one of them is eventually going to talk about it. None of them ever did. Dr. Cook thought that Mary Rogers had been sexually assaulted by six to eight men, but it is not clear how he would know such a thing, after she had been dead and in the water for several days. Dr. Cook also reported, much more believably, that Mary’s hands had been bound during the assault. A group of six men assaulting a young woman would not likely tie her hands, because they would not need to.

One of Edgar Allan Poe’s early anthologists and biographers appended to the story of Marie Roget a footnote which claimed that later events proved that Poe had correctly figured out the clues and worked out the solution in broad terms. This footnote or a similar note was picked up and copied by later editors, becoming almost a part of the Marie Roget story itself; it was still there when I first read the story in the 1960s. The claim is bogus. First of all, no one knows what happened to Mary Rogers, so it is hard to see how Poe could be said to have anticipated the “real” solution. Second, Poe invented or mixed up details of the case critical to his solution of it, making it all but impossible to translate the fiction back into fact in the way that this footnote implies. And third, Poe later bought into Loss’ account of Mary’s death, and he published versions of his story in which he changed the solution—which means that Poe himself wasn’t convinced by his resolution of the case.
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The most convincing solution for the Mary Rogers case was put forward by the criminologist Will Clemens in a November, 1904 article in Era magazine. Mr. Clemens returned many years later to the area where the crime had occurred, and found a number of elderly residents who had known Mrs. Loss and her family. Every one of them believed that the murder had been committed in the roadhouse by Mrs. Loss’ sons, who had also murdered her companion. In support of this theory, consider the following facts:

    1) Mrs. Loss had three sons, who were ages 20, 18 and 16 at the time of the murder.

    2) These boys lived very near the scene of the crime, and, by their mother’s deathbed confession, were at or very near the scene of the crime on the day in question.

    3) By way of Fredericka Loss’ deathbed confession, one of the sons acknowledged participating in the disposal of the body—a serious crime in which he had no apparent motive to participate.

    4) It was one of these same sons who “found” the rest of Mary’s clothes, two months after the murder.

    5) No one saw Miss Rogers and her companion alive after they entered Nick Moore’s House.

    6) Mrs. Loss viewed the body and pretended not to recognize it. She later gave two false statements about the crime before the deathbed confession.

    7) The deathbed confession was given to a local magistrate, Gilbert Merritt, who was summoned for the purpose. Mr. Merritt later took it upon himself to swear out an affidavit about the matter. Although he lacked any evidence on which to act against them, Mr. Merritt stated that he firmly believed that the Loss boys had murdered Mary Rogers, that they were “worthless and profligate” young men, and that the roadhouse run by Mrs. Loss was “one of the most depraved and debauched houses in New Jersey.”

If we assume that the abortion story is patently false, which I am convinced it is, this raises the question: why did Mrs. Loss tell this story? Mrs. Loss was trying to explain how this young girl went into her tavern alive and came out dead, and, when she had some time to think about it, that was what she came up with. Like her earlier statements about the case, it’s simply more disinformation. The third try was highly successful disinformation, unfortunately; one wouldn’t figure that a thing like that would work, but it did.

Mr. Clemens argued that Mary and the tall, dark man were forced into the roadhouse by the afternoon thunderstorm, and were marooned there for some time by the downpour. They never left the house alive.

There are problems with this explanation, but I am inclined to accept Mr. Clemens’ theory. It seems to me that Mrs. Loss and her mischievous sons keep barging into the narrative rather too often, telling a series of stories, none of them true. We have persons of bad character who are known to be at the scene of a crime, later telling stories which are not true and withholding and then coming forward with pertinent information—more than once. That’s a damaging combination. It is puzzling that the contemporary authorities failed to rigorously investigate the Loss family, but … those things happen. I believe that the Loss boys killed Mary Rogers.

I argued before that popular crime stories are much more important in re-shaping our culture than we are generally willing to see. I don’t mean to overstate the importance of the Mary Rogers story, and I’m not expert enough in all of these areas to be certain that I am not over-stating it, but … if you read a history of metropolitan police departments, I am certain that it will reference the significance of the Mary Rogers case in leading to the re-organization of the New York police department in 1845. If you read the early history of abortion law, I am confident that it will reference the Mary Rogers story. If you study the history of the detective story, I feel sure that you will find that the Mary Rogers stories were critical to that genre’s breaking out of its narrow early trench, and becoming a part of the culture. If you know anything about the history of journalism, you certainly know that the newspaper business rode on the backs of crime stories for a hundred years, the Mary Rogers case being one of the sturdiest carriers. But if you read a history of America in the 1840s, it is likely that not a word will be said about Mary Rogers.



III
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“Compare Yale or Dartmouth, where the regimen is that of `moderate Calvinism’, with Harvard. The state of morals at the latter is, to say the least, not lower than at other institutions. The observation of the Puritan happens in an editorial on `murder and other capital crimes’. The occurrences at Yale should shut the mouths of Calvinists as to any opinion like that we have here noticed.”

—CHRISTIAN REGISTER, JULY 22, 1848

In December, 1841, Ann McAllister was found in a canal in Boston, the circumstances indicating murder. This is sometimes referred to as Boston’s Mary Rogers case. McAllister, apparently also a beautiful young woman, cultivated and well-educated, had come to the city in 1835 from Ellsworth, Maine. She was 16 years old at the time, invited by a friend to come to Boston and learn a trade.

The friend died a year after, however, and Miss McAllister began relying on more tenuous friendships. She learned the trade of attending balls and parties, at which she was apparently quite successful, and became engaged to a Boston artist. However, according to some frustrated novelist working for the Boston Cultivator (December 11, 1841), “the brute who is supposed to have caused her death fixed his eye upon her, and determined to accomplish her ruin. He whispered false stories in the ear of her lover, and excited his jealousy by various stratagems, until he finally brought on a quarrel between them, and by pretending to take the part of the woman, won her confidence, and gained access to her heart.” She “admitted him to her society,” reports the would-be Dickens, by which he means that she began having sex with him, and he supported her financially for a time. After a time he cut her off. She began to drink heavily, and eventually wound up in the water. To the best of my knowledge this very sad case was never resolved by the law—making four in a row for us, as the law also failed to finish off the cases of Elma Sands, Helen Jewett and Mary Rogers.

Within a few years Boston would have its own mega case, perhaps bigger than Mary Rogers, but before I get to that there was a point I wanted to make. In the summer of 2005, in the wake of the Natalee Holloway case and several similar, there was a media contretemps provoked by objections from minority groups that the media was focusing disproportionately on what they called “Missing White Girl” cases, and ignoring murders that occurred in the black community, murders and disappearances of men, and murders and disappearances of ordinary, frumpy-looking people. As far as CNN knows, you’re not missing unless you’re cute.

While this is certainly true, what I wanted to point out is that this is not a function (or malfunction) of the modern media. This is the way it has always been. Popular crime stories are of many different types and descriptions, and it is not easy to say why one case becomes famous and another does not. In my view, it is not possible to predict whether a crime will become famous, based on the elements of the crime. What makes a crime famous is not the crime itself but the way the media reacts to it, which depends to a large extent on the contextual dynamics of the media competition. It’s like a fire … what makes one fire grow huge and another die out quickly is not that there is a difference between one fire and the other; it’s the context in which the fire starts.

However, while it is essentially unpredictable which crime story will explode into a media firestorm, there are certain elements that the biggest crime stories tend to have in common. Number one is an attractive victim. It is inherent in the definition of the word “attractive.” It means that others pay attention. The murders of children and pretty women are dry tinder, especially children and women of privilege.

Let me suggest a theory, and if I’m wrong, perhaps you will be tolerant enough not to be angry with me. Popular crimes stories are an expression of our impulse to draw a protective circle around ourselves. The interest that we take in a crime is therefore proportional to the sense it creates that our sanctuary may have been violated. If we suspect that our perimeter has been violated, we are immediately concerned to locate, identify, and rectify the problem.

The murders of men tend not to alarm us because, on a certain level, we perceive men as voluntarily accepting risks by leaving the protective bubble of the community to go on hunter/gatherer missions. If you are interjecting here that this perception is sexist and archaic … well, that’s right, it is. Much of our social behavior is sexist and archaic. When men are murdered, we tend to “think” … I shouldn’t say think because it isn’t really thought. We tend to internalize that as “Somewhere out in the dangerous world, something happened to him.” We don’t feel threatened by that, at least on the same level as if the crime occurred within our community.

When a pretty young girl is murdered, we tend to internalize that as “somebody is after our women.” Somebody has broken into our camp. Women feel threatened by that, and men challenged. We feel that it is our job to protect the women, and we react viscerally to any sense that we have failed to do this.

When a child is murdered by his or her parents, that does not tend to be a big story, because we don’t perceive that as a violation of our circle, but rather, as something that happened within some other circle. That was somebody else’s cave. When a child is or may have been murdered by outsiders, that is even more likely to become a huge story than is a missing white girl.

The murders of black people tend not to explode as popular crime stories because we tend, on some level, to perceive them as not belonging to “our” group, our camp. If you want to say that this is racist and archaic … well, yes, of course it is. Much of our social behavior is racist and archaic. As time passes and our society’s racist history recedes, this will become gradually less true. But it will be many, many years before we tend to perceive a crime against a man the same way we perceive a crime against a woman—and society is more likely to eliminate crimes against children than to learn to react to them the same way we react to crimes against adults.

Celebrated murders … what a horrible phrase. Celebrated murders tend to have other things in common. They tend to happen on Sundays, and on or very near holidays. Elma Sands and Mary Rogers both disappeared on Sundays; Helen Jewett was murdered early on Sunday morning. Elizabeth Canning disappeared on New Year’s Day, Laci Peterson and JonBenet Ramsey right around Christmas (and also Elma Sands). Marilyn Sheppard was murdered on the Fourth of July. The Zodiac referred to two of his crimes as the Christmas murder and the Fourth of July murder. These similarities also are trying to tell us something about the nature of popular crime, but I’d better get back to the narrative.

The stage for the Harvard murder had been set several years earlier by a murder at Yale. In late October, 1843, a Yale tutor, John Dwight, stumbled across a group of underclassmen who were amusing themselves by breaking some windows. The hooligans split up and ran, and Dwight and another man took out after them. Dwight, who was 21 years old and athletic, had the misfortune to catch up with his culprit, a sophomore named Lewis Fassitt. Fassitt pulled a large knife and stabbed the tutor three times. The wounds did not appear to be life-threatening, but Dwight developed a fever, and died a few days later. Fassitt, from a wealthy family, posted a $3,000 bond and went back to his home in Philadelphia, and the law essentially kept the $3,000 and dropped the matter. At that time it was so difficult and so expensive to track down and arrest a man out of state that, even though this was a high-profile murder case, they just didn’t bother. Ain’t that a kick in the pants?

The press chewed over this murder and the failure to prosecute quite a bit; in fact, I found two newspaper articles from the period which referred to “these murders at Yale.” When you are researching a crime book a phrase like “these murders at Yale” will get your attention, but I think there was only the one. My father would do that; if there was a break-in at a store downtown and he wished to generalize from it, he would refer to it as “these break-ins downtown.”

While it is impossible to predict what makes a crime story explode, the Yale murder had certainly lit the fuse for the furor that surrounded the Harvard case. The president of Harvard, Josiah Quincy, mentioned the Yale murder more than once to make some point or another, and the good scholars of Yale were on record as suggesting that if he were a gentleman he would shut up about it.

So there was a murder at Harvard, finally, and the press ran wild with it. As he was going about his daily business on Friday, November 23, 1849, Dr. George Parkman disappeared from the streets of Boston and from the face of the earth. Dr. Parkman was a man of extremely regular habits, so when he failed to return home for his two o’clock dinner his wife was concerned. When he failed to return home that evening she was distraught, and, by the following morning, frantic. Dr. Parkman’s aging father suggested that his son perhaps had wandered off into the woods and had gotten lost. This was more probable than alien abduction, but not much more. Dr. Parkman was a little bit peculiar, and his father, who had a low tolerance for peculiar, sometimes exaggerated his failings.

Dr. Parkman was well known not only among the rich and celebrated of Boston, amongst whom he had nestled since birth, but also among the common folk. He was easily recognized—odd-looking, and he walked everywhere. He was a tall, thin man who walked bent forward at the waist with quick, energetic strides, his long nose, long chin and prominent Adam’s apple poking forward like a trident, wearing the top hat and tails that were his generation’s best effort at dignity. He refused to keep a horse and he refused to ride in a carriage anywhere that he could walk. If it was the middle of winter and he needed to go to Cambridge, he would walk to Cambridge and he would walk back.

The city marshal wanted to raise an alarm immediately (Saturday morning) but Dr. Parkman’s family asked that he wait until the afternoon trains arrived, in case Parkman had just been called away suddenly and someone had failed to deliver a message. By Sunday afternoon the entire city of Boston was looking high and low for Dr. Parkman, and by Monday evening the nation had been alerted to his disappearance.

Dr. Parkman’s manservant, new to his position, had reported a visit Friday morning from a man he did not recognize, arranging a meeting at 1:30 that day. On Sunday afternoon the mystery man stepped forward. It was Dr. John Webster, a friend of Dr. Parkman’s since childhood. Webster and Parkman had attended Harvard together, and had hung out together in London as young doctors. Dr. Parkman, the word was, had used his influence to help Webster win appointment to the Harvard Medical School.

Dr. Webster was above suspicion, but over the next four days he engaged in a catalogue of suspicious behaviors that would get the ingénue indicted. His manner in reporting the appointment was cold and indifferent. He locked all the doors of his Harvard laboratory, which had never been his custom, and spent long hours locked inside. He built roaring fires inappropriate to the weather. He purchased strong acids. He went out of his way to spread rumors about the investigation, and about Dr. Parkman being seen alive. He claimed to have paid off a large debt to Dr. Parkman just before Parkman disappeared, although it was fairly clear that he didn’t have the money.

That, and there was the straightforward fact that George Parkman was never seen again after he was seen on the steps of the Harvard Medical School, on his way to an appointment with Dr. Webster. The caretaker of the Medical School building was Ephraim Littlefield. Littlefield had an apartment on the ground floor of the large, impressive building, built on land given to Harvard by Dr. Parkman. Littlefield cleaned and maintained the building, carried coal for the furnaces, filled water tanks, shoveled sidewalks, signed for deliveries and cared for horses. He had assisted the police in two searches of Dr. Webster’s laboratory and office, and had become increasingly suspicious. There was a vault in Dr. Webster’s laboratory, designed for the disposal of waste from animal dissections. It was built of brick, several layers lined with copper, accessible only through a small privy lid in Webster’s lab. Dr. Webster had asked Littlefield, apparently before Parkman disappeared, whether it was possible to get a light into the vault to see what was there. Littlefield had said that it was not. The air in the vault was so humid and foul, he had learned from experience, that a lamp or a candle would go out immediately if lowered inside.

Littlefield normally fed the fire in Dr. Webster’s furnace, but now found himself locked outside while Webster built raging fires, so hot Littlefield feared that he might burn down the building. On Wednesday, five days after the disappearance, Webster surprised Littlefield with the gift of a large Thanksgiving turkey. This was the last straw for Littlefield. He had known Webster for years, and Webster had never given him anything. Now, standing at the center of an inferno, Webster was trying to buy his silence. Convinced that Webster had murdered Dr. Parkman, he determined to break into the vault and see what was there. Squeezing himself sixty feet through a crawlspace under the building, Littlefield chipped away layers of brick and pried through the copper, where he discovered the dismembered remains of Dr. George Parkman.

Webster was arrested that night, Thanksgiving night, was convicted the following March, and was hanged near the Boston Common on August 30, 1850. It was an argument about money. He owed Parkman a few hundred dollars—nothing to Parkman, but Webster couldn’t pay. He had secured the loan with a mineral cabinet, containing specimens he had collected from all over the world. He had tried to sell the collection to Harvard for $10,000, but the president of Harvard wouldn’t buy. A few weeks earlier, Dr. Parkman learned by chance that Webster had also used the cabinet as collateral to secure another loan. This was, of course, illegal. Irate, Parkman had demanded payment of the debt. Unable to pay, Webster had killed Dr. Parkman.

The best source for information about the Webster/Parkman case is Murder at Harvard, by Helen Thompson (Houghton Mifflin, 1971). There were at least a dozen earlier books on the case. It was stupid for Webster to claim that he had paid off the debt, because everybody knew—certainly the bank knew, and his friends and family knew, and Harvard knew—that he didn’t have the money. The Webster family had once been as wealthy as the Parkmans. Dr. Webster’s grandfather had gotten rich during the Revolutionary War, selling medicines to the army. Webster had inherited a small fortune and had lived for ten years as if he had inherited a large fortune. The money gone, he had been unable to rein in his spending habits, and was desperately in debt.

It is, in a sense, a tawdry, straightforward crime. Dr. Webster’s story, when finally he told it, was that he had simply lost his temper when Parkman confronted him about the money, had struck his old friend with a piece of wood, and was immediately horrified and remorseful. Unable to revive Parkman, he had made a panicked decision to destroy the body.

The Harvard murder became one of the most famous crimes of the 19th century not because it was interesting, but because it came to light in a way that made it seem interesting. Like a good novel, the story kept unanswered questions in front of the reader for the better part of a year. The public learned first that Dr. Parkman was missing, then that there was a massive search for him but he was still missing, then that Parkman had gone to a meeting with an unidentified man, then that the unidentified contact was Dr. Webster, then that Dr. Webster was suspected in the disappearance, then that the body had been found and Dr. Webster arrested. That was the first week; after that the story went on for almost a year through Webster’s trial, conviction and execution, and during most of that time Dr. Webster and his friends insisted that he was innocent.

And, like a good novel, the Harvard murder had a fantastic cast of characters. The story directly involved Oliver Wendell Holmes, probably the most famous doctor in America at that time, remembered also as a poet and as the father of a yet-more-famous jurist. Holmes—who occupied the George Parkman chair in the Harvard Medical School—was in the building at the time of the murder. His office was searched. There were dozens of others peripherally involved in the case who were famous not only at the time, but who remain famous today, running on two centuries since. Henry Cabot Lodge was a neighbor of the Parkmans, as had been the late Charles Bulfinch. The Parkmans and Websters were close to John Adams, and John Quincy Adams was among Parkman’s dearest friends. His son, Charles Francis Adams, reported that he would often find the former president and Dr. Parkman sitting asleep in their chairs before the fire, having talked things over until the night overcame them. John James Audubon would stay at Parkman’s house when he came to Boston. Henry Wadsworth Longfellow visited Webster several times in prison, as did James Russell Lowell. Ralph Waldo Emerson would pop his head into the story, and George Ticknor, and Bronson Alcott, and Daniel Webster. (A British newspaper once mixed up the story and reported that Daniel Webster had been accused of the crime. In fact, Daniel Webster’s connection to the story was that John Webster’s friends had asked him to be lead counsel for the defense, a task which he eventually declined.) The judge in the case—who himself was among the most prominent American jurists of the 19th century—was the father-in-law of Herman Melville. Melville and wife traveled to Boston and stayed with the judge during part of the trial, probably bringing with them the manuscript of Moby-Dick.

There was a remarkable collection of men in Massachusetts at that time, men (and a few women) who had convinced not only themselves but generations of scholars yet to be born that they were smarter than the rest of us, braver, and purer in spirit. Henry David Thoreau, according to F. B. Sanborn, was one of a group of Harvard undergraduates disciplined by the college for setting off (inside a building) a giant sulphur-based stink bomb they had built with chemicals given them by Dr. Webster. Emily Dickinson was nearby, out in Amherst, Hawthorne in Concord (The Scarlet Letter was first published in Boston in 1850, by Ticknor, Reed, and Fields). The Abolitionist movement was center stage in America then, and many of the leading abolitionists lived in Boston—William Lloyd Garrison, Julia Ward Howe, Abby Kelley Foster. It was this that really drove the coverage of the crime: that much of the nation was taking unbridled delight in the fact that a petty and vicious crime had occurred in the very center of this group of high-bred citizens who lived on ether and farted perfume. Perhaps it was Edgar Allan Poe’s celestial revenge. Poe, who died the month before Parkman’s murder, had been born in Boston, and had published his first poem anonymously under the name “A Bostonian.” Rejected by the Boston literary elite, Poe had grown to detest these people (particularly Longfellow) and had tried to commit suicide in Boston in 1848. He would have been—or perhaps was—absolutely delighted by the Webster/Parkman furor.

The murder divided Cambridge from Boston, Cambridge almost unanimously believing Webster to be innocent, and Boston unanimously convinced of his guilt. Oliver Holmes, who was close friends with both Webster and Parkman but closer to Parkman, danced around the issue but was probably an exception. Holmes knew Webster well enough to know his faults. But most of Harvard was determined to see Webster acquitted, denying his guilt even after his conviction—and, in their fervor, married themselves ever closer in the public mind to a sinking scoundrel.

There is a small wren called Parkman’s wren. Audubon gave it that name, after George Parkman. Charles Dickens visited Boston in 1868, his first trip to Boston since the 1840s. He was greeted by a party of old friends. “What would you like to do in Boston?” they asked. Dickens asked if he could see the room where Webster murdered Parkman. Oliver Holmes gritted his teeth and conducted the tour, Dickens beaming and almost beside himself with excitement.

A great deal had happened by then, of course; an ocean had moved under the bridge before 1868. America during the Civil War—and during the run-up to the Civil War, and during the cooling-off period after the Civil War—had too much crime to take much of an interest in any of it.

When I was a young student, our professors would periodically implore us to ponder deeply why the crime rate in America was so dramatically worse than the crime rate in most of Europe. Any complex phenomenon can be explained in multiple ways, each as true as the others. But one of the true explanations is this: that murder rates in America shot up so fantastically, in the years between 1840 and 1885, that even though they have been generally going down for most of the last 125 years, they remain high today.

The human race is involved in a long, long battle to eliminate murder from our midst, as we are involved in equally long and torturous struggles to eliminate war, famine, slavery, disease and underarm wetness. We will ultimately succeed in this struggle; murder will eventually be all but entirely eliminated, but our gains are so slow and irregular that progress can only be seen by staring back across the centuries.

Murder rates in America even in 1840 were almost certainly significantly higher than they were in England. Between 1840 and 1885, however, four factors combined to drive the murder rate in America sharply higher, at least relative to Europe. First, firearms became cheap. In 1840 relatively few Americans and few citizens of any other country owned a firearm. Between 1835 and 1870, due to the inventiveness of a group of merchants centered in New England—Samuel Colt, Horace Smith, Daniel Wesson, Oliver Winchester, Eli Whitney Jr. and Richard Gatling, to name a few—firearms became dramatically cheaper, better built, easier to use, and more deadly. Second, the American Civil War led to a widespread breakdown of law, order and justice, which allowed crime to flourish, as it always does in all countries in all civil wars. Third, there was a circle of legitimized violence that surrounded the Civil War, which coarsened the culture. In Lawrence, Kansas, more people were murdered on one day—August 21, 1863—than during all of the twentieth century. There were numerous other murderous raids on Lawrence—and raids by people from Lawrence on other cities, particularly in western Missouri—dating back to the mid-1850s.

One of the most famous bank robbers of the late 1800s was Cole Younger. By the time he was 21 years old, Younger had personally witnessed violent death dozens of times—first, in a series of violent incidents involving his family, second, in the murderous “raids” or rampages of which I spoke earlier, and third, as a soldier during the Civil War. It is not too surprising that he became a violent criminal. He was capable of violence as he was capable of decency. After twenty years as a criminal he spent fifteen years in prison, was released, lived peaceably another fifteen years, and died a Christian. The Civil War set loose in our society an epidemic of rage and violence, and this epidemic scarred the life of Cole Younger as it did the lives of hundreds of thousands of other people.

And fourth, the very rapid expansion of America through the frontier created an impossible problem for the law enforcement community. If you take 10,000 people and put them in one square mile, you can police them effectively with ten cops. If you take 10,000 people and spread them out over an area the size of Nebraska or Kansas or South Dakota or Arizona, you can’t begin to police them with 200 cops.
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C. R. R.—Money is ready. How shall I know your agent?

—PERSONAL ADVERTISEMENT IN PHILADELPHIA LEDGER, JULY 22, 1874

The explosive combination of these four punches—the invention of cheap firearms, the disruption of law and order during the Civil War, the coarsening of the culture surrounding the Civil War, and the rapid expansion of the frontier—sent the American crime rate spiraling so high that a century since has not been enough to flog it back into complete remission. In late 19th century America there are two entirely different sets of crime stories. On the one hand, you have the “Wild West” stories of Billy the Kid, Jesse James, The Wild Bunch, the gunfight at the OK Corral, and a thousand others, many of which remain famous today, but which I will pass over as being essentially outside the tradition of popular crime, which centers on villainy, rather than lawlessness.

On the other hand you have the modern urban crime stories, and so I will resume my narrative with a story which is neither of these, neither fish nor fowl, and which actually was never all that famous, apart from a few weeks in 1868. On April 6, 1868, a wooden transport ship named the Arran sailed from Greenock, on the west coast of Scotland, near Glasgow. It was a mid-sized ship, with a crew of 22 men and two officers, bound for Quebec. As soon as the ship was clear of the port a young boy crawled out of hiding; he had stowed away on the ship, looking for adventure at sea, or, that failing, sustenance. He had no shoes, no coat and only a flimsy pair of trousers.

This was unexpected but not all that unusual, and the ship continued across the Atlantic—but then a second small boy crawled out of the woodwork, and then another, and another. You couldn’t open a cupboard on the Arran without pulling out an urchin. They weren’t all that small and some of them had shoes, but by the time the ship was four days at sea the crew had been joined by the remarkable total of seven uninvited guests. Three of them were boys of 11, one was 12, two were 16, one 22.

The captain of the ship was Robert Watt, aged 28, and the mate was his brother-in-law, James Kerr, aged 31. They were large, bearded men who had never raised families, and had neither the inclination nor the time to provide childcare. They had sufficient provisions to make America even with the extras, however, and so they continued on. Watt appears to have been a decent enough soul, but he wasn’t strong enough to stand up to Kerr, and Kerr was a bit of a monster. Seasick, the youngsters vomited up their meat. Kerr responded by ordering that they be given no more meat. He assigned them work to do on the icy deck, barefoot and without coats in the wind and rain of the North Atlantic, and when they snuck below deck to get warm he would have them beaten. They slept in filth and were beaten because they were filthy; they stole food to stave off hunger, and were beaten then as thieves.

For several days in early May the Arran dodged ice floes, and, on May 10, found herself lodged firmly in an ice pack off the coast of Newfoundland. The officers climbed off the ship and walked around the ice, surveying their situation. The stowaways took the opportunity to grab some food. When Kerr and Watt returned to the ship they were enraged, and ordered the stowaways off the ship.

Although Kerr had been chiefly in charge of the barbarities up to this point, it was Watt, the Captain, who actually ordered the boys onto the ice. Some of the youths, fearing that to be put off the ship barefoot on an iceberg was near certain death, cried and pleaded to be allowed to remain on board. To this, the Captain was said to have replied that they could as well die on the ice as on board, but they weren’t going to get any more of the ship’s food. Others were by now so desperate that they were ready to take their chances on the ice. They stood on the ice and begged for a little food to take with them. Some biscuits were thrown overboard, one biscuit apiece.

The officers, when finally they came to trial, claimed that they had never intended for the stowaways to perish. There were houses that could be seen in the distance, at least through a spyglass. They pointed the boys toward these unseen structures, five to ten miles away—or, if they preferred, toward another ship, also stuck in the ice, which was perhaps within a mile or two. Two witnesses claimed that the Captain had told the boys that they could return to the ship if they were unable to reach safety.

As luck would have it, five of the seven stowaways were able to reach land. Two of the eleven-year-olds perished, one abandoning hope and sitting down to await death, the other falling into the icy water while attempting to jump from one ice floe to another. The others walked for about twelve hours, eventually reaching a place where they could see houses across a stretch of water. They tried to ferry across the water on a chunk of ice, using a stick as a paddle. They were spotted from the land, and a boat was sent to rescue them.

When the Arran returned to Greenock in July a mob of men stormed the ship, trapping the captain and mate in their quarters, where they defended themselves with firearms for several hours until rescued by the police. The surviving stowaways, who had spread quickly around Newfoundland in search of work and shelter, were rounded up and brought back to Greenock, crossing the Atlantic the second time in comfort and leisure.

Kerr and Watt stood trial in Edinburgh in November 1868. Kerr pled guilty to assault, and the charge against him of culpable homicide was dropped. He was sentenced to four months in prison, which was the time he had served awaiting trial. Watt was found guilty of culpable homicide, but with a recommendation of mercy based on his previous good record. He was sentenced to eighteen months in prison. The courtroom rocked with boos and hisses. Watt, released from prison in mid-1870, went back to work as the captain of another ship, and continued to command ships into the 20th century. Kerr also went back to work as a first mate, but died suddenly just a few years later.

The story of the Boys on the Ice is an unusual crime story, but it is in a certain sense an archetype: that crime stories very often center on entirely remarkable circumstances. It was an amazing thing, to have all of those stowaways on one ship, and it led to a peculiar dynamic on the ship. The two-sided drama of officers and crew became a three-sided conflict—officers, crew and stowaways—and, whereas a single stowaway might have been adopted by the crew almost as a pet, a whole assembly of them presented an entirely different problem. This led, ultimately, to a fantastic loss of judgment on the part of the officers.

A definition of a news story, of course, is Man Bites Dog. Run-of-the-mill crimes involve, as a rule, people who never had any good judgment to begin with. Crime Stories, on the other hand, often involve people whose judgment appears sound enough and whose lives appear to be on a successful track, but who for one reason or another lose their moral compass and do things that are frankly difficult to believe. All murders are tragedies in the common sense of the word, but Crime Stories are often tragedies almost as Aristotle defined tragedy—an action which is serious, complete, and of a certain magnitude, in which a person of substance is reduced to ruin by a flaw in his/her character revealed under the tensions of the stage. Robert Watt would never have imagined himself to be a murderer; he was a ship’s captain, for Christ’s sake. Harvard could not imagine Dr. Webster as a murderer. Fall River could not imagine Lizzie Borden as a murderess.
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The two biggest American crime stories of the post-war years were Jesse James and the kidnapping of Charlie Ross. The press never resolved whether it was Charlie or Charley, by the way. A search of newspapers from the era finds almost equal frequency of each spelling, with a sprinkling of Charly.

This fact is an appropriate place to begin the Ross story, as the story of Charlie Ross is perhaps America’s most confusing crime story. I will do my best to get the story straight, but there are multiple published accounts of many different parts of the story, and there is no authoritative after-the-fact source that satisfactorily ties up the loose ends. On July 1, 1874, four-year-old Charles Brewster Ross and his six-year-old brother Walter were playing in the front yard of their house in Germantown, Pennsylvania, in the Philadelphia area. Their father was half-watching them while running his business; their mother was in Atlantic City, recuperating from an illness. The Ross family had once been quite wealthy, and their “house” was a mansion on a hilltop. Sometime in the early afternoon two men pulled up in a buggy, and offered to take the boys to buy some fireworks. The two men had been hanging around for several days, giving the boys candy and toys. They were seen by a number of witnesses taking the boys away.

Within a few miles, young Charles was screaming that he wanted to be taken home. His abductors stopped at a store in Philadelphia, and gave Walter a quarter to go in and pick out some fireworks; they said that they were going to try to calm down Charlie. When Walter came out of the store the carriage was gone.

The boys’ father, Christian Ross, searched the neighborhood and then went to the police. He asked the police to keep the search quiet, trying to keep word from reaching his wife in Atlantic City; she was not well. He placed personal ads in local newspapers, asking for information and offering to pay for the safe return of his sons. A friend in Atlantic City spotted one of the ads, however, and Mrs. Ross was alerted to the disappearance.

The older boy, Walter Ross, was located in Philadelphia and returned to the family. Asked to describe his abductors, he described a wiry man with a low forehead, a dark tan and an old broad-brimmed straw hat, and his partner, a man with a misshapen red nose, what he called a “monkey nose.” Within days Ross had received a nearly illiterate letter from someone claiming to hold Charly; the letter repeatedly misspelled the word “you” but came within one “n” of correctly spelling “annihilation.” A later letter from the same source specified an amount to be paid for Charlie’s safe return: $20,000.

The pieces of the story now assembled, the abduction of Charlie Ross captured the attention of the nation. The mayor of Philadelphia was recalled from his vacation in California. Negotiations between Ross’ parents and the supposed kidnappers continued, eventually reaching 23 ransom notes and some unknown number of cryptic personal ads posted in response. Children who were supposed to be Charlie Ross kept popping up all over the country. This happened so often that it developed its own protocol, with conditions that must be met before the Ross family would dispatch a relative to see whether the child in question was in fact Charlie.

This was the first high-profile kidnapping for ransom in American history, a new crime as far as most Americans were concerned. Copycat crimes now began to appear—in Brooklyn, in Boston, once more in Philadelphia. Christian Ross was assailed in newspaper editorials for his bad judgment in offering to pay for his son’s return. This, said the newspapers, was fueling the spate of kidnappings. (In reality, of course, it was the newspapers themselves that were feeding the problem.) One article in the Reading Eagle was so vicious, and so clearly untrue, that the Ross family sued for libel—and won an $1800 judgment against the paper in late September, 1874. When Philadelphia citizens learned that Christian Ross was bankrupt and unable to pay the $20,000, a fund drive was organized to raise the money—and a competing fund was organized to advertise a $20,000 reward for the arrest of the kidnappers, specifying that not a penny was to go to the culprits. Police turned Philadelphia upside down, breaking down doors and searching houses without warrant. The Pinkerton agency circulated literally millions of fliers with Charlie’s picture and descriptions of the kidnappers, asking for information. People were arrested all over the country on suspicion of involvement in the crime. Two men and a woman were arrested in Odell, Illinois, with a little boy dressed as a girl. The dramatic story of how a private investigator chased this party across the country and finally got the police to make an arrest in Odell was printed in newspapers across the nation before it could be determined whether the boy was in fact Charlie. He wasn’t; one of the men involved was from Philadelphia, and the boy had been secretly taken in a domestic dispute, but he wasn’t Charlie. Another young boy dressed as a girl turned out, on doctor’s examination, to be a girl after all. The Keffer Sheet Music Company of Boston published a song, “Bring Back Our Darling,” words by Dexter Smith, music by W. H. Brockway. The song sold in the hundreds of thousands, and copies of the music still exist.

In the middle of this circus, poor Christian Ross stopped eating, stopped working, and grew so weak that he was reported near death. Despite the efforts of the Ross family and those who tried to help them, no rendezvous with the kidnappers could ever be arranged.

Judge Charles Van Brunt, a member of the New York Supreme Court, had been raised in a grand house in the Bay Ridge area of Long Island, and continued to use this house as a summer residence. After midnight on December 14, 1874, two men broke into the house, not realizing that it had been recently equipped with an invention of which they had probably never heard: a burglar alarm that sounded not there, but at the nearby house of Van Brunt’s brother, Holmes. Holmes Van Brunt, his son and a man who worked for them grabbed their pistols and went to the house. They could see lanterns moving about inside. They staked out the house, waiting for the burglars to emerge. It was very cold. After a couple of hours they grew tired of waiting, and decided to force the issue. Charging through the doors, they confronted the burglars. The intruders opened fire, and a gun battle ensued. Within moments one of the burglars was dead, and the other, a career criminal named Joe Douglas, was dying. He asked for whiskey, and said that he had something to say before he died. They had stolen Charlie Ross, he said—he and the other burglar, Bill Mosher. He had helped Mosher to kidnap Charlie Ross.

The gunfire had awakened the neighborhood, and there were multiple witnesses to whatever else was said that night. Some people thought he said that only Mosher knew what had happened to the boy. Others thought he said that Mosher’s wife knew where he was, and he would be returned now, and others, that he had said that the boy was dead. Douglas didn’t live long enough to straighten this out, and he was less than cogent at the time of his confession.

There was a New York City Police Inspector, Washington Walling, who was something of a publicity hound … somebody should write a book about him. He shows up in dozens of crime stories. A beautiful blonde woman found in a trunk; Inspector Walling is on the case. Anyway, one version of Douglas’ deathbed confession reported that he said Inspector Walling knew all about it. Apparently, Walling had suspected for months that Mosher and Douglas had committed the crime, and he and his men had been chasing them and harassing their relatives all along, trying to find them; this, at least, is the story Walling fed to the press in mid-December.

There is no doubt that Mosher and Douglas did in fact commit the crime. They matched the description of the criminals given by Walter Ross and others. Mosher had a red, misshapen nose—the “monkey nose” that Walter had described. Shown pictures of the culprits, Walter confirmed that those were the men who had abducted him. An uncle and various other people in Germantown remembered that the pair had been hanging around in the days before the kidnapping.

Mosher’s wife now went on the lam, and the next task of the investigation was to find her. Finally located, she could tell officers nothing about the fate of Charlie Ross. Mosher’s brother-in-law and criminal associate, William Westervelt, was arrested and put on trial on a charge of assisting in the kidnapping. He was convicted of unrelated crimes but there was no evidence that he had had anything to do with Charlie Ross.

Christian Ross recovered, wrote a book about the experience, and searched for Charlie until he died in 1897. In February, 1878, he traveled to Baltimore to see a boy who was reported to look like Charlie. He told the New York Times that this was the 573rd boy that he had been called to see or had been written about. “My hundreds of failures to identify each waif as my own,” he said, “has taught me to entertain no sanguine hope. I suppose I shall continue going to see boys till I die, but I don’t expect to find Charlie in any of them.” Charlie’s mother also recovered from whatever was ailing her, lived until 1912, and she also hoped for Charlie’s return and searched for him as long as she lived. The spate of copycat crimes ceased after the deaths of Mosher and Douglas. There wasn’t another high-profile kidnapping for ransom in America during the rest of the 19th century (although there were some minor, local kidnapping stories in the 1890s). But for decades later, people would step out of the shadows claiming to be the little lost boy. None of them ever was.

In all likelihood, Charles Brewster Ross was dead before nightfall on July 1, 1874. Later experience has shown that this is what most commonly happens in cases of this type. His abductors do not appear to have made any plans or provisions for his care. Mosher’s partner in crime, Joe Douglas, claimed or may have claimed that he did not know what had happened to the boy after the kidnapping. Although Ross’ father repeatedly offered to pay for the return of his son, and although money was raised for this purpose, the kidnappers never came through on an offer to return the boy. It is unclear whether the parents were in fact corresponding with the actual kidnappers, or whether the letters were sent by a con man trying to intervene in the crime.

“The details of the abduction of Charlie Ross, and of the subsequent discovery of his kidnappers,” wrote the Chicago Tribune on December 19, 1874, “excel in romantic interest any story of crime yet conceived by romancer or playwright. The disappearance of the child, the alternations of hope and despair in the hearts of the afflicted parents, as news came from time to time that their boy had been discovered, the various threads of rumor that the officers unraveled only to find that they led to nothing, the pursuit of the real kidnappers for months by the detectives acting under the orders of Inspector Walling, of New York, and the manner in which they avoided them and finally put them off the scent altogether, and the tragical denouement a few days ago, which discovered them, and at the same time brought a swift and terrible revenge upon them, form a series of chapters in one of the most thrilling episodes of crime ever known in this country.”

The New York City police were in a very different place in 1874 than they had been 33 years earlier, at the time of the Mary Rogers case. In 1841 the New York police went to crime scenes, responded to emergencies, kept order, sorted out disputes, arrested people, conducted investigations at the direction of the coroner or the prosecutors, and beat the truth out of people they suspected of wrongdoing. They weren’t organized to conduct an investigation into a mysterious death or disappearance. In 1841 the concept of a detective barely existed. To the best of my knowledge, the word “detective” never appeared in a New York newspaper until the late 1840s.

By 1874 New York City had squads of detectives, including one which spent a lot of time investigating a crime that had happened in Philadelphia. But even in 1874 there was no police training of any kind for at least 99% of the nation’s police. You learned to be a policeman by being a policeman. In order to get Inspector Walling to investigate the abduction, Christian Ross had agreed to pay the expenses of the investigation, a common practice at the time. Further, and more shockingly, it was common, in this era, to hire ex-convicts as police officers. I’m not sure about New York, but throughout the West and in Philadelphia, certainly, there was no prohibition against hiring people with criminal records to work in law enforcement, nor was there any general feeling that this was improper. The police needed to be tough guys; you hired tough guys. If they had done things wrong in the past … well, I’d rather have them working for us than working against us.

This policy was, in a narrow sense, enlightened. Modern society causes problems for itself by making it too hard for a young person who makes mistakes to get back into the pathways of success. Even in 19th century America, it was SOP to roust the ex-cons when a crime had been committed, to harass them, to make them the first suspects when you didn’t know who had done something. But if a man got out of jail, got a job, stayed clean a few years … well, you didn’t hold the past against him.

I would argue that in a certain sense, that’s an appropriate policy, although obviously not for the police. Throughout the West, there were many cases in which people who had criminal records got hired as police officers, and continued their criminal careers under the protection of the badge. In the 1880s, when the frontier west ended, there was a kind of a sea change, and it was realized then that this was improper.

Jesse James was murdered in St. Joseph, Missouri, on April 3, 1882. Like Charlie Ross, people stepped forward for years afterward claiming to be Jesse James. The last and best-known of the Jesse James imposters, J. Frank Dalton, died in 1951, still claiming that he was Jesse.

The judicial system treated the Wild West bandits with an unusual degree of understanding. Those who surrendered and survived—Frank James, Cole Younger, Emmett Dalton—served a few years in prison and then went on with their lives; people would not have run around claiming to be Jesse James if this was not true. The West was closing up. The cattle drives ended in the early 1880s. Reconstruction ended in the South. Automobiles and movies and telephones and record players and electric lights and unions washed the continent. The world in which these men had murdered and robbed and plundered no longer existed, and no one felt much need to punish them here and now for the crimes they had committed long ago and not merely far away, but in a place that wasn’t anywhere anymore.
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If there’s a strange coincidence, you let it pass. If there are two, you can still let it go. When it gets to three, well, in the end you have to say that it’s no longer a coincidence.

—ARTURO MINOLITI, QUOTED IN THE MONSTER OF FLORENCE

On the morning of August 3, 1892, Abby Borden visited her doctor, who was also her neighbor, and complained that she thought she might have been poisoned. She was ill—so was her husband, for that matter, and the maid wasn’t feeling too hot, either. Somebody was trying to poison them. The doctor assured her that it was nothing serious, that nobody was trying to poison her, and she should go home and sleep it off.

Later that morning, Lizzie Borden visited a local drug store, and tried to buy some poison. Lizzie was Abby Borden’s stepdaughter, and none too fond of the old woman. She had a sealskin cape, she told the druggist, and the insects were getting into it. She wanted to buy some prussic acid to treat the cape. The clerk refused to sell her the prussic acid without a prescription.

On the following morning, Andrew and Abby Borden were murdered inside their home in Fall River, Massachusetts. To this point, I have avoided using the word “blood” in this book; also the words “angst,” “cuspidor,” “turquoise,” “disgusting,” “arachnid” and “rectal thermometer,” but you get my point. We can’t get past the Borden murders without blood; there was blood everywhere. It was a gruesome murder, each of the elder Bordens being struck in the head a dozen or more times with an axe or a hatchet of some kind. Lizzie discovered the body of her father a little after 11 o’clock in the morning. He was in a downstairs sitting room, probably dozing off at the time he was murdered. Lizzie yelled for the maid, Bridget Sullivan, told her that her father had been murdered, and sent her across the street to summon the doctor. The doctor was away, but she (Bridget) told the doctor’s wife what had happened, while Lizzie, waiting anxiously outside, alerted another neighbor. The neighbor and the maid discovered the body of Abby Borden in a room at the top of the stairs. By 11:30 the police, the doctor and an assortment of neighbors, relatives and passers-by were on the scene. By 11:45 they had been joined by seven more policemen and the medical examiner.

The three essential facts about the Lizzie Borden case are:

1) That it is almost impossible to see how Lizzie could have committed the crime,

    2) That it is very, very difficult to understand how anyone else could have committed the crime, and

    3) That Lizzie made a number of statements about the case that were self-contradictory and in conflict with the testimony of other persons.

It is difficult to see how Lizzie could have committed the crime because there simply was not time for her to have committed the crime, cleaned herself up, and disposed of the murder weapon. The time frame of the murders—we’ll spell it out in detail later—is very, very tight. Andrew Borden must have been attacked between 10:55 and 10:58 AM. Lizzie yelled for the maid just moments after 11 AM. These events are pinned in place by a long list of time-stamped observations.

On the other hand, the alternative explanation seems equally improbable—and Lizzie did make a large number of apparently untrue statements about the crime. How do we figure it out?

The police thought it was obvious that Lizzie had done it. After all, they said, only Lizzie had the motive, the means and the opportunity …
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As a framework for the logic of convincing evidence, the prosecutorial troika of motive, means and opportunity is as useless a set of concepts as anyone could conceivably come up with.

Let us suppose that it was possible to make a mathematical system to evaluate the evidence against a person accused of a crime. I know, I know, I know; this is totally impossible, it’s ridiculous, it’s absurd, it can’t be done, logic doesn’t work that way; I understand all of that, I get it. I’m just saying … what if? If I could flap my arms and fly to San Jose, which way would I need to go?

My first thought, in trying to puzzle out this problem, was to try to put a “weight” or “value” on each piece of evidence, and thus to weigh the evidence pointing to innocence against the evidence pointing toward guilt. The presumption of innocence, in that system, would be represented as a kind of dead weight that must always be overcome by the prosecution—a 50-point rock, let us say, that is always added to the defendant’s side of the scale.

There are three problems with this concept. One is the unoriginal observation that it is often impossible to prove innocence. Suppose that you were required to prove that you didn’t murder Chandra Levy. Where were you when Chandra was murdered? Can you prove it? We all understand that you can’t prove a negative, and this premise underlies the judicial system.

A more practical problem with that framework for “scoring” the balance of the evidence in a criminal case is that it is in many cases impossible to say where a piece of evidence fits on the scales. There are, in almost every criminal trial, numerous pieces of evidence that are claimed by both sides. How do you deal with these? Split them? Toss them out?

It isn’t the evidence itself that forms an argument against the accused; it is the story told by the evidence. There is a different story in every case, and this is what makes it impossible to place numerical values on the evidence, or makes it seem impossible. The evidence is a sort of a map. What matters is not how big the pieces of evidence are, but how they are arranged.

The third problem with the “scales of justice” mathematical model is that it provides no guidance as to what to do with cumulative evidence. A great deal of what is said in criminal trials, by both sides, is true and relevant evidence, but bears an uncertain relationship to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The easiest example is in the O. J. Simpson case, where Marcia Clark opened the prosecution by proving that Simpson was an abusive husband—and then proved it again, and proved it again, and proved it again. The evidence was not irrelevant. It was certainly relevant to the case whether O.J. was or was not abusive. The evidence may not even have been cumulative in the legal sense of the term, that it proved a fact that had already been established. Since there were numerous incidents during which Simpson was abusive, the prosecutor was legally entitled to introduce evidence of several of these if she chose to do so. It was cumulative in a slightly different sense: that it proved a point that was already on the scoreboard.

In a “scales of justice” point count system, each incident in which Simpson was abusive might be seen to carry a certain weight. The problem is, ten of these incidents don’t weigh significantly more than one. As the jury saw it, proving that O.J. was abusive was some small portion of what the prosecution needed to prove—5% maybe, or 10% at most. The rest of it was a waste of time. Clark thought that she could poison the jury’s mind toward O.J. by showing what a bad person he was, but it backfired on her. The jury saw instead a prosecutor who was insulting their intelligence by hammering for weeks on a point already proven, and they turned against her because of it.

My second thought was that perhaps we could contain this “redundant weight” effect by breaking down what must be proven into the categories cited 47 times every day on truTV: motive, means and opportunity. Suppose that what must be proven is 33% motive, 33% means, 33% opportunity. O.J.’s abusive history goes to motive, I suppose, so the limit of the value given to that might be 33 points.

But working with the actual evidence in criminal cases, what quickly becomes apparent is that the real evidence bears not the slightest resemblance to the so-often-cited structure of motive, means and opportunity. The problem with the concept of motive, means and opportunity is that hundreds of thousands of people every year have the motive, means and opportunity to commit crimes that they had absolutely nothing to do with. Suppose that you apply this concept of “proof” to some ordinary event. Let us suppose that the prosecution is trying to prove that you purchased a melon last Saturday. Did you have a motive to purchase a melon? Well, yeah … I was hungry and I like watermelon, so I guess I had a motive to purchase a watermelon. Did you have the opportunity to purchase a watermelon? Well … sure. There’s a grocery right next to my office, and they had watermelons on sale for 49 cents a pound. I guess I had the opportunity to purchase one. Did you have the means to purchase a watermelon? Well … sure. What’s a watermelon cost, five, six dollars? I certainly can’t deny that I did have the means to purchase a watermelon.

The only thing is, I didn’t purchase no goddamned watermelon. Motive, means and opportunity have nothing to do with real evidence. Real evidence that I purchased a watermelon is like a sales receipt for a watermelon that has my fingerprints on it, a check that I wrote to the grocery store for that amount on that date, and a videotape of me carrying a watermelon out of the store. There’s a half-eaten watermelon in the refrigerator and watermelon rinds in the garbage; you got me. Motive, means and opportunity, you’ve got squat.

The same applies to criminal cases. There is a place where motive, means and opportunity are useful in understanding a crime. MMO is a kind of “directional arrow” which, very early in the case—in the investigative stages, when the case is in the hands of the detectives—can be used to focus the investigation. There is a circle of fifteen people surrounding the victim. Of those people, maybe four had some kind of grudge against him and two others stood to profit from his death, so that’s six of the fifteen. Two of those six have solid alibis for the time of the assault, so there’s no opportunity there, four left. There’s a bullet hole in the victim and one of those four has been seen carrying a weapon which has now disappeared, bingo.

Motive, means and opportunity are useful in telling the investigators where they should look for evidence, at the beginning of the case. But if a prosecutor is arguing at the end of the investigation that the accused had the motive, means, and opportunity, what she is essentially saying is that she doesn’t have a clue what happened.

OK, so what does work?

Let us begin by asking this question: is there any one piece of evidence, in any case, which is entirely sufficient to sustain a conviction?

No, there is not. A confession? People confess to murders that they didn’t commit every day of the year, and sometimes they figure out enough facts about the case to convince people that they actually did it. A videotape? They’ve got fifteen cameras pointed at a running back every Sunday, and at least thirteen of them won’t tell you whether he stepped out of bounds or not. What if it’s somebody who looks a lot like me? Didn’t you ever know two people who looked just alike? If you have a common face, like mine, there are hundreds of people who can easily be mistaken for you.

The most convincing single piece of evidence that we see in real cases is DNA from semen in a rape/murder. But even that evidence, by itself, is not sufficient to convince beyond a reasonable doubt, because it remains possible that the victim had consensual sex shortly before she died with someone other than the person who murdered her.

But certainly, DNA evidence in a rape/murder case is very, very damning evidence. Suppose that it takes 100 points’ worth of evidence to convict a person beyond a reasonable doubt. How many points do you give to the DNA evidence?

The answer is fairly apparent: it has to be about 80 points. It has to be in that range. It doesn’t take two or three or four facts of that nature to convict somebody; it just takes one, plus a little bit of a shove. Such a fact is not proof by itself, but it is so close to being complete proof that the rest of the proof must almost inevitably follow like the dirt that comes up with a carrot when you pull the carrot.

On the other hand, a great deal of the evidence which is introduced in crime cases is so tangential that it would be impossible to score at even one point. Crime books … and this is really what I am interested in; not the trial, but the crime itself and the whole universe of admissible and inadmissible evidence which surrounds it … crime books are normally composed almost entirely of “evidence” that is so tangential that it bears no weight whatsoever. A book about Rabbi Neulander points out that he served shrimp at his wedding reception—an odd choice for a prospective Rabbi. It is evidence against him, sort of. It paints a picture of a Rabbi who is less than 100% committed to his belief system, thus it might be more believable that he went bad, as opposed to Rabbi Leibowitz across the hall, who served whitefish.

This is evidence, I suppose, but one hundred facts of this nature would not be sufficient to convince anyone that Rabbi Neulander was a murderer. Books arguing that Sam Sheppard was innocent or that Richard Hauptmann or Julius Rosenberg was innocent will go out of their way to tell stories about the time that Sam or Richard or Julius stopped to help an old lady with a flat tire. They are essentially arguing that “this is not a bad person; this is a good person. This is not the kind of person who would pass nuclear secrets to the Lindbergh baby.”
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